#### FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/31/2020 3:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. <u>98973-7</u> COURT OF APPEALS NO. 36330-9-III

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### BRIAN JEFFREY ANDERSON,

Petitioner.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITTITAS COUNTY

The Honorable Scott R. Sparks, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

####

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Brian Jeffrey Anderson, the appellant below, seeks review of the split court of appeals decision in <u>State v. Anderson</u>, noted at \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 2020 WL 3121174, No. 36330-9-III (Jun. 4, 2020) (Appendix A), following denial of his motion for reconsideration on July 30, 2020 (Appendix B).

#### B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. The special verdict form asked the jury to decide if Mr. Anderson delivered a controlled substance within 1,000 feet of a "school bus route stop." "School bus" was defined in the jury instructions as a vehicle with a seating capacity of more than 10 persons and a vehicle owned and operated by a school district as opposed to a municipality. No evidence was presented on seating capacity, ownership, or operation of the school buses. Does the definition of "school bus" in the jury instructions delineate the state's burden of proof as to whether Mr. Anderson's actions occurred within 1,000 feet of a "school bus route stop" under the law of the case and should review be granted given that the three separate court of appeals opinions could not decide this question?

2a. Did the court of appeals violate Mr. Anderson's constitutional right to appeal by refusing to address his sufficiency

-1-

challenge to the major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (VUCSA) aggravator stated in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(1).

2b. Under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(1), where an offense involves at least three separate transactions, it constitutes a major VUCSA offense. The four offenses at issue involved only one transaction each, not three. Was there insufficient evidence to support the jury's special verdicts that each conviction constituted a major VUCSA violation?

2c. Despite no exceptional sentence, did the major VUCSA violation aggravators nonetheless prejudice Mr. Anderson at sentencing, such that this issue is not moot as the court of appeals claimed?

3. Did the trial court err in permitting the state to amend the school bus route stop aggravator in the information after it had rested its case in chief?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Police officers relied on two confidential informants who claimed they purchased methamphetamine from Brian Anderson on August 20, 2015, March 3, 2016, March 4, 2016, and March 10, 2016, which formed the basis for four counts of delivery of a controlled substance. CP 31-34 (third and fourth amended informations); CP 47-50 (to-convict instructions). Each count corresponded to a single meth transaction occurring on each date. The August 2015 count (Count 1) was based on a controlled buy performed by James "Jim Bob" Pearson, who testified he gave Anderson money outside of a Fred Meyer, waited for Anderson to go to Yakima and back, and then "went up to his house and went inside and got drugs and left." RP 378, 381. The March 2016 counts (Counts 2 through 4) involved confidential informant Zachary Morrell who police stated had "bought methamphetamine from Mr. Anderson." RP 212-13. Morrell testified that in early March, he bought \$50 worth of meth from Anderson. RP 282. A second controlled buy occurred the following day, March 4, 2016; Morrell stated he bought a "little under a gram" of meth from Anderson. RP 214-15, 283-84. On the third and final controlled buy performed by Morrell on March 10, 2016, Morrell wore a wire. RP 216-17. Morrell stated he had to wait for someone else to bring Anderson meth, but that he ultimately purchased \$20 worth of meth from Anderson. RP 285-86.

The prosecution also alleged that Anderson's August 2015 delivery of methamphetamine to Pearson occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop. CP 31. The third amended information, which was the current charging document at the commencement of trial, alleged that Anderson violated RCW 69.50.401 "by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under that subsection by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I, RCW 69.50.204 . . . ." CP 31. After the State rested, defense counsel moved to dismiss the aggravator because methamphetamine is not a schedule I drug, but a schedule II drug. RP 478-79, 487-88. The trial court refused, instead allowing the State to amend the information despite having rested, ruling that the "by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I" language was unnecessary surplus language that did not bind the State. RP 488-89; <u>compare</u> CP 31 (third amended information) <u>with</u> CP 33 (fourth amended information).

With respect to the school bus stop route aggravator, the jury was provided with a definition of "school bus." CP 57. The definition required school buses to be vehicles with seating capacity of more than 10 persons, including the driver, to be regularly used to transport students to and from school or in connection with school activities, and to be owned and operated by any school district. CP 57. Although Ellensburg's director of transportation testified that there were five regularly used school bus stops within 1000 feet of Anderson's address in August 2015, no testimony or other evidence was presented about the seating capacity, ownership, or operation of any vehicle. RP 233-38.

The State also alleged that all four deliveries of a controlled substance constituted major violations of the Uniform Controlled Substances

-4-

Act pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(1), which provides, "The current offense involved at least three separate transactions in which controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so." CP 33-34. The jury was instructed on this definition of a major violation. CP 59-64. But each charged count corresponded to precisely one transaction only.

The jury returned guilty verdicts on all four delivery charges, found Anderson's delivery in Count 1 occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop, and found that each count constituted a major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substance Act. CP 74-81; RP 595-96.

At sentencing, the trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 30 months on each count, including an additional 24 months for the school bus route stop enhancement, for a total of 54 months' confinement. CP 96-97; RP 630. Although the trial court did not impose an exceptional sentence based on the major violation aggravators, the trial court invoked the aggravators immediately before imposing the standard range sentence and immediately before rejecting Anderson's request for a prison-based drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA). CP 83-87; RP 629-30. Anderson appealed, CP 105, raising the arguments discussed below.

#### D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. Review should be granted because the splintered court of appeals opinion could not resolve whether the state was required to prove a "school bus," as that term was precisely defined in the jury instructions, stopped at "school bus route stop[s]" under the law of the case

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires the State to prove every fact necessary to constitute the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). On review for sufficiency, the appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution asks whether a rational trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); <u>State</u> v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

The jury instructions constitute the law of the case and establish the burden the prosecution must meet. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998); <u>State v. Nam</u>, 136 Wn. App. 698, 706-07, 150 P.3d 617 (2007). "[T]he law of the case doctrine applies to all unchallenged instructions, not just the to-convict instruction." <u>State v. France</u>, 180 Wn.2d 809, 816, 329 P.3d 864 (2014). It "is a broad doctrine that has been applied to to-convict instructions and definitional instructions." <u>State v. Calvin</u>, 176 Wn. App. 1, 21, 316 P.3d 496 (2013) (collecting cases).

The jury was given a special verdict form in which it was asked to answer "yes" or "no" to the question, "Did the defendant deliver a controlled substance to a person within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by a school district." CP 55, 66. The jury received the definition of "school bus," which required a seating capacity of more than 10 persons, including the driver, and ownership and operation by a school district rather than a municipality. CP 57.

The state presented no such proof. The Ellensburg Transportation Department Assistant Director testified about school bus stops. He said nothing about the seating capacity of the buses. He said nothing about who owned and operated the school buses and, notably, he appeared to be a municipal employee of Ellensburg rather than a school district employee. RP 236. Therefore, there was no proof that a school bus, as that term was defined in the jury instructions, presented at trial, even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.

The court of appeals panel could not agree on how to resolve Mr. Anderson's claim. The lead opinion responded by asserting that the state was required to prove the existence of just a "bus *stop* rather than a school bus." Slip op., 12-13. But the instructions required proof of a "school bus route stop," which necessarily includes the term "school bus." The term "school bus" was defined for the jury and the court of appeals did not dispute that there was no proof of a "school bus route stop" of a "school bus" per the instructions. Thus, the lead opinion reads out the definitional instruction altogether, which violates the instructions themselves. CP 38 ("The order of these instructions has no significant as to their relative importance. They are all important."). The lead opinion conflicts with <u>Hickman</u> and <u>Calvin</u> which establish that the jury instructions given are binding in the case. <u>Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 101 n.2; <u>Calvin</u>,176 Wn. App. at 121. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) review is warranted.

Also, the lead opinion errs in relying on <u>France</u> and <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 191 Wn.2d 206, 422 P.3d 436 (2018), both of which decided whether multiple definitions of a term created alternative means, not a question presented here. <u>See</u> slip op. (Fearing, J., dissenting in part) at 5-6. This case does not involve multiple definitions or an alternative means argument. It involves the one definition of school bus provided to the jury and whether that definition controlled the proof required to decide Mr. Anderson delivered drugs within 1,000 feet of a "school bus route stop."

This case is thus more akin to <u>State v. Stevens</u>, 158 Wn.2d 304, 143 P.3d 817 (2006). There, the court considered whether the state was required to show sexual gratification in order to prove "sexual contact" even though sexual gratification was not itself an element of child molestation and answered yes. <u>Id.</u> at 309. "Sexual contact" was defined to include "sexual

gratification" and so the prosecution had to prove sexual gratification despite it being definitional. <u>Id.</u> at 307, 309-10.

Definitions fall within the law of the case doctrine when they delineate what the jury must decide. Each case must be evaluated in the context of the instructions as a whole. France, 180 Wn.2d at 816; State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654-55, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). Here, the jury had to decide whether Mr. Anderson delivered a controlled substance within 1,000 feet of a "school bus route stop." CP 75. The only way they could decide under the instructions was deciding whether a "[s]chool bus" as was defined for had a certain seating capacity and ownership/operation, yet no such evidence was presented. CP 57. The definition of "school bus" delineated the state's burden of proof under Stevens and Hickman; any other conclusion renders the definition of "school bus" given to the jury wholly superfluous and fails to evaluate the instructions as a whole. Because the result of the court of appeals opinion conflicts with Washington's law of the case doctrine, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The concurrence would not even address the effect of the jury instructions at all and instead stated, "Because the question in the special verdict form comes directly from the statute, we must discern what the legislature, by enacting RCW 69.50.435(1)(c), intended the State to prove." Slip op. (Lawrence-Berrey, J., concurring), 1. But this just ignores that the

jury was instructed on the meaning of "school bus" to determine whether a "school bus route stop" was in 1,000 feet of a drug delivery. If legislative intent answered this question, then why have a law of the case doctrine at all? The concurrence also conflicts with the law of the case doctrine by incorrectly sidestepping it altogether, meriting RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) review.

And the concurrence fails to apply penal statutes strictly, which is required. <u>State v. Carter</u>, 89 Wn.2d 236, 242, 570 P.2d 1218 (1977). Also, statutes must be read to give effect to all the language enacted and, where a term is defined, that definition controls. <u>G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue</u>, 169 Wn.2d 304, 309, 237 P.3d 256 (2010); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Hoffman</u>, 154 Wn.2d 730, 741, 116 P.3d 999 (2005). As with the jury instructions, the definition of "school bus" is a necessary ingredient of "school bus route stop" under the statute. The term "school bus route stop" incorporates the term "school bus" without a doubt. The concurrence reads "school bus" out of "school bus route stop" thereby rendering part of the legislative enactment superfluous. And it fails to construe the statute strictly to ensure that on conduct clearly and manifestly within the statutory terms is subject to criminal penalty. <u>Cf. Carter</u>, 89 Wn.2d at 242.

At the very least, the concurrence's interpretation is not the only reasonable one, rendering the statute ambiguous and subject to the rule of lenity. <u>See State v. Jacobs</u>, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601, 115 P.3d 281 (2005); <u>State v. Tvedt</u>, 153 Wn.2d 705, 711, 107 P.3d 728 (2005). Indeed, the concurrence stated, "one might infer when a school district designates a school bus route stop, a school bus actually stops there." Slip op. (Lawrence Berrey, J., concurring), 2-3. This what "one might infer" analysis implicitly acknowledges that there is a more robust and strict reading of the statute that is also reasonable. Lenity requires the reasonable interpretation that favors Mr. Anderson.

Each member of the court of appeals panel wrote separately and the court did not make a holding on this law of the case issue. This merits review by the Washington Supreme Court to determine the effect of the definitional instruction given in a non-alternative means, sentencing enhancement context, and points out conflicts and confusions in Washington jurisprudence on the role of definitions in establishing the prosecution's burden of proof under the law of the case doctrine. Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), Mr. Anderson's petition should be reviewed.

- 2. The court of appeals completely ignored Mr. Anderson's sole argument about the insufficiency of evidence supporting the major drug offense aggravator found by the jury, which should be reviewed per Mr. Anderson's article I, section 22 right to appeal
  - a. <u>An argument raised in a criminal appeal must be</u> <u>addressed by the court of appeals under the state</u> <u>constitution</u>

The court of appeals disposed of Mr. Anderson's sufficiency challenge to the major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (VUCSA), calling it moot "[b]ecause the trial court did not impose an exceptional sentence" and claiming "[t]he sentence would not change even if we agree with Mr. Anderson's position." Slip op. (lead op.), 15-16. The court of appeals simply refused to address Mr. Anderson's actual position, which should be reviewed as a state right-to-appeal violation under article I, section 22. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Mr. Anderson presented arguments challenging the sufficiency of the aggravators based on the language of RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i), which states, "The current offense involved at least three separate transactions in which controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so . . . ." Br. of Appellant, 23-28; Reply Br., 8-10; CP 64. Mr. Anderson asserted that each offense he was convicted of corresponded to exactly one transaction, so there was no evidence to support the notion that any one of the offense involved at least three separate transactions. The state responded

and claimed that the word "offense" must be interpreted as the "case as a whole" rather than pertaining to each count. Br. of Resp't, 27. The state admitted it was "not arguing that standing alone, the counts would each support the allegation." Br. of Resp't, 27. Mr. Anderson replied that the state's interpretation was incorrect and that, in any event, the jury indeed was instructed to determine whether each individual count was a VUCSA offense, "standing alone." Reply Br., 8-11.

Mr. Anderson also fully acknowledged that, despite the aggravators found by the jury, no exceptional sentence was imposed. Br. of Appellant, 28. Instead, Mr. Anderson's argument was that the aggravators nonetheless influenced the trial court's decision to deny a DOSA. Indeed, at the time the DOSA was requested, the trial court referred to the aggravators as a "tool that the State has to, you know, urge you, urge you to jump on the bandwagon and take responsibility early and get your treatment started early and your sentence done early." RP 629. "But you rolled the dice instead, you went to trial," the court told Mr. Anderson. RP 629. The court claimed it was not punishing Mr. Anderson for exercising his constitutional rights, yet it stated, "You absolutely have a right to go to trial, but you don't get credit, you know, the system doesn't get anything out of that, right?" RP 629. Then the court denied the DOSA, stating, "I can't." RP 630. Mr. Anderson criticized the trial court's "apparent belief that no credit should be given to defendants who exercise their constitutional rights, which in turn stemmed from the trial court's apparent belief that aggravating circumstances existed as a tool for the State to coerce plea deals in lieu of trials." Br. of Appellant, 29-30. Because the trial court invoked the aggravators to deny the DOSA, Mr. Anderson asserted "the aggravator still had a prejudicial impact at sentencing." Br. of Appellant, 30.

The court of appeals opinion reads as though Mr. Anderson presented no such argument. It does not acknowledge, let alone address Mr. Anderson's citations to the record that support his claims of prejudice at sentencing despite the lack of exceptional sentence. This violates Mr. Anderson's constitutional right to appeal.

The Washington Constitution guaranties the accused "the right to appeal in all cases[.]" CONST. art. I, § 22. This includes the right to have the appellate court consider the merits of the issues raised. <u>State v. Rolax</u>, 104 Wn.2d 129, 134-35, 702 P.2d 1185 (1985). Where the nature of the appeal is clear and the relevant issues are clearly briefed with citations and arguments, the court of appeals has no lawful basis for failing or refusing to consider the merits of an issue. <u>State v. Olson</u>, 126 Wn.2d 315, 323, 893 P.2d 629 (1995); <u>accord State v. Grimes</u>, 92 Wn. App. 973, 978, 966 P.2d

394 (1998) (appellate court to reach the merits if "reasonably clear" from briefing).

Mr. Anderson argued the trial court denied the DOSA by relying on the major VUCSA aggravators and that the VUCSA aggravators were not supported by sufficient evidence. The record supports his contentions. The court of appeals decision conflicts with the authority cited in the preceding paragraph, undermines the constitutional right to appeal, and undermines the integrity of the courts. Every RAP 13.4(b) criterion is satisfied.

#### b. <u>The issue is not moot and involves the prosecution's</u> <u>novel and incorrect application of the major VUCSA</u> <u>aggravator under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i)</u>

Only by completely ignoring Mr. Anderson's arguments did the court of appeals conclude they were moot. As noted, Mr. Anderson claimed he was prejudiced at sentencing by the four aggravators found by the jury. An issue is moot where the appellate court cannot no longer provide effective relief. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Mattson</u>, 166 Wn.2d 730, 736, 214 P.3d 141 (2009). The issue Mr. Anderson raised is not moot. Effective relief can still be provided in the form of resentencing wherein Mr. Anderson may again request a DOSA without the trial court relying on aggravators that were not supported by sufficient evidence. The court of appeals misapprehends mootness, contradicting Washington law. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

The issue should be decided because it is not moot and presents a novel sentencing issue that has potentially large consequences. Each of the four charged counts here pertained to precisely one VUCSA delivery on different days. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i) reads, "The current offense involved <u>at least three separate transactions</u> in which controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so . . . ." (Emphasis added.) The jury instructions mirrored this language. CP 64. The jury was instructed to decide whether all four of the VUCSA deliveries each constituted a major VUCSA violation. CP 59-64, 67, 69, 71, 73.

Under the language of the statute, the current offense—in the singular form—each must involve three separate transactions. There must be more than one single transaction as part of the current offense; there must be at least three according to the statute. Here, though, each of the four offenses involved only one transaction apiece. <u>See</u> CP 31-34 (informations listing four separate dates for each count); CP 47-50 (to-convict instructions for each count); RP 214-15, 282-86, 406, 425 (trial testimony confirming one transaction on each date). None of the offenses "involved at leas three separate transactions in which controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so." CP 64; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i).

The state asserted "offense" in the state means the "case as a whole" rather than pertaining to each count. Br. of Resp't, 27. Aggravators do not

apply to the "case as a whole" but "for an offense" as RCW 9.94A.535's first sentence says. Chapter 9.94A RCW shows the legislature intended everything to be determined on a per-count or per-offense basis. <u>E.g.</u>, RCW 9.94A.505(1), 2(a)(i) (standard range sentence); RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid based on offender score and seriousness level per offense); RCW 9.94A.517 (same); RCW 9.94A.520 (enumerating offense seriousness levels); RCW 9.94A.525 (instructing to calculate offender score for each separate offense). The state's interpretation is incorrect.

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