FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/28/2020 12:24 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98973-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 36330-9-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

Mr. Brian Jeffrey Anderson,

Defendant/Petitioner

Respondent's Reply to Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review

Carole L. Highland WSBA # 2050 205 W. 5th Ave, Ste. 213 Ellensburg, WA 98926 (509) 962 – 7520 Attorney for Respondent

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State relies upon the facts as stated in the unpublished decision of *State of Washington v. Brian Jeffrey Anderson*, No. 36330-9-III issued June 4, 2020, and attached to this response.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE INCLUSION OF A SURPLUS JURY
INSTRUCTION WHICH WAS NOT A NECESSARY
ELEMENT, AND NOT INCLUDED IN THE TOCONVICT INSTRUCTION, DOES NOT IMPLICATE
THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that although the State had included the definition of "school bus" within its proposed jury instructions, doing so did not add an element to the State's burden of proof for the enhancement. As Judge Korsmo stated, "[d]efinitional instructions do not create new elements. *State v. France*, 180 Wn.2d 809, 816, 329 P.3d 864 (2014). That proposition remains true even if the definition is included in the elements instruction. *State v. Tyler*, 191 Wn.2d 205, 213, 422 P.3d 436 (2018). A definition of an element simply does not create a new element or supplant the statutory element. *Id.* at 215.

In the verdict form, the jury was specifically asked whether or not Mr. Anderson delivered a controlled substance to a person within a thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by a school district? CP 66. Mr. John Landon, the Assistant Director of Transportation for the Ellensburg Transportation Department, testified that there were five active

school bus stops within one thousand feet of where the delivery in count one had taken place. RP 234- 238.

The definition of "school bus" given earlier in the jury instructions was superfluous, and unnecessary, and did not create a new element. It would have been necessary to have been proven if the defendant were charged with having delivered to someone on a school bus, see RCW 69.50.435(1)(b). However, it was not included in the toconvict instruction. As the Court held in *State v. France*, 180 Wn.2d at 816, "[a]II of the elements of the charged crime must appear in the to-convict instruction '[b]ecause it serves as a yardstick by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence." *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 306, 325 P.3d 135 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Sibert*, 168 Wn.2d 306, 311, 230 P.3d 142 (2010)).

Where an erroneous to-convict instruction creates a new element of the crime, the instruction will become the law of the case, and the State will be required to prove that element. In *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101, 954 P.2d 900 (1998), in which the issue of venue was erroneously included in the to-

convict instruction, the Court held that the State was required to prove the added "element" under the law of the case doctrine.

Although the law of the case doctrine is not limited to "to-convict" instructions, case law indicates that it is in that situation that the doctrine should be strictly construed, rather than in this case where the inclusion of the jury instruction within the general packet was both superfluous and innocuous.

The enhancement charged in count one was RCW 69.50. 435(1)(c) "[w]ithin one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district." The verdict form correctly used this language, and there was testimony specific to this enhancement. Petitioner does not show that the Court of Appeals' finding that the definition of "school bus" within the general jury instructions as being surplus conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

2. PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT THAT THE
AGGRAVATOR WAS IMPROPERLY APPLIED TO
EACH OF THE CRIMES COMMITTED OVERLOOKS
THAT IT IS NOT A STAND-ALONE CHARGE, AND TO
AGGREGATE MULTIPLE DELIVERIES TO ADD THE
AGGRAVATOR TO ONLY ONE COUNT WOULD
EVISCERATE THE PURPOSE OF THE
AGGRAVATOR.

Mr. Anderson's argument that the Major Drug Offense Aggravator of RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i) was incorrectly applied ignores that it is an aggravator and not a stand-alone charge. The State correctly argued in Mr. Anderson's direct appeal that although charged on each of Mr. Anderson's deliveries, it should be applied only to the aggregate of Mr. Anderson's four deliveries. To apply it as Mr. Anderson argues to an aggregated single count would nullify all but one count in the charge, and thus eviscerate the purpose of the aggravator.

The aggravator on each of the four delivery counts was as follows:

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES: The State of Washington further alleges that the current offense involved at least three separate transactions in which controlled substances were sold, transferred, or possessed with intent to do so in violation of 9.94A.535(3)(e)(i).

3. SINCE MR. ANDERSON SUFFERED NO ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES FROM THE FINDING OF THE AGGRAVATOR, AND HIS ARGUMENT THAT IT AFFECTED THE TRIAL

COURT'S DENIAL OF A DRUG OFFENDER SENTENCING ALTERNATIVE IN HIS CASE IS SPECULATIVE AT BEST, HE CANNOT SHOW THAT ANY OF THE PROVISIONS OF RAP 13.4(b)(1-4) APPLY.

Mr. Anderson also argues that although no additional time was imposed in his matter, he was prejudiced by the aggravator because it influenced the Trial Court to deny him a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA). This argument fails for several reasons. One, it is speculative at best. Two, the Trial Court was in the position to understand that there were not four aggravators, but four deliveries which combined, established the aggravator of a major economic crime of three or more VUCSA deliveries. Three, the Trial Court did authorize a DOSA pre-screen after Mr. Anderson's attorney made a motion for a prison based DOSA, and received both a report from the Department of Corrections, as well as a Pre-Sentence Investigation. CP 83-87, 88, 89-90, 91-93. The decision whether or not to impose a DOSA sentence is discretionary with the Trial Court, and a reading of the full record and the judge's comments during the sentencing hearing, reflect that he considered, and then denied, Mr. Anderson's requested DOSA request. RP 627-630.

Petitioner does not show that the Court of Appeals' failure to consider his argument regarding the application of the VUCSA aggravator under RCW 9.94A.535, when it noted that the Trial Court did not apply the VUCSA aggravator conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE AFTER IT
HAD RESTED, TO REMOVE SUPERFLUOUS
LANGUAGE FROM THE INFORMATION WHEN THAT
REMOVAL NEITHER CHARGED A DIFFERENT
CRIME, NOR INCREASED THE PENALTY FOR THE
CRIME CHARGED, AND THE DEFENDANT WAS
ADMITTEDLY APPRISED OF THE NATURE AND
CAUSE OF THE ACCUSATION AGAINST HIM.

Where the decision or order of the trial court is a matter of discretion, it will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). In short, discretion is abused

only where it can be said no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. *State v. Blight*, 89 Wn.2d 38, 41, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977).

Allowing the State to amend after it had rested was not in conflict with existing case law. In *State v. Foster*, 91 Wn.2d 466, 589 P.2d 789 (1979), the Court held:

A criminal charge may not be amended after the State has rested its case-in-chief unless the amendment is to a lesser degree of the same charge or a lesser included offense. Anything else is a violation of the defendant's Article 1 §22 right to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him or her.

State v. Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d 484, 745 P.2d 854 (1987), echoed this constitutional narrowing of the amendment provisions of CrR 2.1(d) which more broadly states that "[t]he court may permit any information or bill of particulars to be amended at any time before verdict or finding if substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced."

The *Pelkey* rule has been described as a bright line created "to resolve the tension between the court rule allowing liberal amendment and the constitutional imperative requiring the accused be adequately informed of the charge to

be met at trial." *State v. Ziegler*, 138 Wn.App.804, 808, 158 P.3d 647 (2007).

But the *Pelkey* rule is not absolute. In *State v. DeBolt*, 61 Wn.App. 58, 62, 808 P.2d 794 (1991), for example, the Court stated that amendment of the charging date after the State rested its case in chief "is a matter of form rather than substance and should be allowed absent an alibi defense or a showing of other substantial prejudice to the defendant."

In State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995), our Supreme Court commented, "[c]onvictions based on charging documents which contain only technical defects (such as an error in the statutory citation number or the date of the crime or the specification of a different manner of committing the crime charged) usually need not be reversed." Vangerpen 125 Wn.2d at 790. In Vangerpen, the amendment at issue violated the Pelkey rule because it changed the charged crime from second degree attempted murder to first degree attempted murder. Vangerpen 125 Wn.2d at 791. Citing DeBolt and Vangerpen, Division Two stated, "[t]rial courts may sometimes allow the State, after resting its case in chief, to amend an information to correct

technical defects caused by scrivener's error, such as dates, statutory citations, or specifying a different manner of committing a crime." Here, it is undisputed that the State merely sought to remove inapplicable surplus language. The *Pelkey* rule should not apply to this case.

Mr. Anderson was charged in count one with Delivery of Methamphetamine with an aggravator which alleged that the delivery had occurred within a thousand feet of a school bus route stop. The aggravator however added the language that the substance in question was a schedule I drug not to include Marijuana.¹

After the State had rested, counsel for Mr. Anderson moved to dismiss the aggravator as it included the incorrect language regarding schedule I and marijuana. The State moved at that time to amend. Relying on *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 718, 107 P.3d 728 (2005), and *State v. Stritmatter*, 102 Wn.2d 516, 524, 688 P.2d 499 (1984), the Trial Court found that it made no difference whether the language regarding marijuana was in the charge or the aggravator, but noted that the aggravator included language

¹ Count One and its aggravator as presented in the State's Third Amended Information, and the State's Fourth Amended Information are provided *infra*.

that "the State of Washington <u>further alleges</u>..." which put the defendant on notice that the aggravator referred back to the charge, and made the language regarding marijuana surplus and unnecessary. (emphasis added). RP 487-490. The Trial Court then inquired whether or not the defendant could articulate prejudice, and Mr. Anderson's counsel acknowledged that he could not. RP 490. In the Third Amended Information, the State charged that:

He, the said BRIAN JEFFREY ANDERSON, in the State of Washington, on or about August 20, 2015, did knowingly deliver a controlled substance, to wit: Methamphetamine, thereby committing the felony crime of DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 69.50.401(1) and (2)(b).

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES: The State of Washington further alleges that the defendant did violate RCW 69.50.401 by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under that subsection, by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I, RCW 69.50.204, except leaves and flowering tops of marijuana, to a person within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district in violation of 69.50.435. (emphasis added). CP 31-32.

By comparison, the Fourth Amended Information charged that:

He, the said BRIAN JEFFREY ANDERSON, in the State of Washington, on or about August 20, 2015, did knowingly deliver a controlled substance, to wit: Methamphetamine, thereby committing the felony crime of DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 69.50.401(1) and (2)(b).

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES: The State of Washington further alleges that the defendant did violate RCW 69.50.401 by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under that subsection, to a person within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district in violation of 69.50.435.² CP 33-34.

Petitioner does not show that the Court of Appeals' finding that the Trial Court acted within its discretion in allowing the State to strike superfluous language in the information either conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; or conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

² The language of RCW 69.50.435(1) reads as follows: Any person who violates RCW 69.50.401 by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under RCW 69.50.401 or who violates RCW 69.50.410 by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I RCW 69.50.204, except leaves and flowering tops of marihuana to a person: (a-j are then listed).

VI. CONCLUSION

Because Petitioner fails to establish any of the four reasons for Discretionary Review as provided in RAP 13.4, his Motion for Discretionary Review should be denied.